


Numerex Corp. (the “Company”) is a technology company

comprised of operating subsidiaries that develop and

market a wide range of communications products and

services. The Company’s primary focus is wireless data

communications utilizing proprietary network technolo-

gies. The Company primarily offers products and services

in wireless data communications through Cellemetry� and

Data1Source�, and digital multimedia through PowerPlay�.

These services enable customers around the globe to

monitor and move information for a variety of applications

from home and business security to distance learning. In

addition, the Company offers wireline alarm security prod-

ucts and services, as well as telecommunications network

operational support systems.
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a letter from the chairman

Dear Fellow Shareholders,

In 2002, Numerex was faced with

changing economic events and

a difficult operating environment

that adversely impacted our finan-

cial results. In response, we have

altered our strategy to ensure

focus on certain key segments of

our business plan. We have also

made appropriate changes to our

organization to better align our

business objectives to our mission

and strategic vision, to be the

industry leader in wireless data

communications solutions.

We have effectively responded

to the circumstances surrounding

slow down in order flow and prod-

uct sales through a company-wide

restructuring plan, positioning

ourselves for sustainable growth

and profitability. We have taken

several steps to improve our

results for 2003, including reduc-

ing executive compensation and

overheads, resulting in a signifi-

cant annualized cost reduction;

refocusing managements’ efforts

on business lines that offer the

greatest opportunity for profitable

growth, namely mobile and fixed

security solutions and vending

solutions in wireless data; and

have implemented rapid changes

to our product mix designed to

increase product margins and

drive service revenues.

Highlights
There were a number of positive

events completed in 2002. Our

announced agreement with a

major international carrier, which
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gives us access to several Latin

American markets, was a mile-

stone achievement meeting one

of our major objectives; to expand

our network connectivity interna-

tionally. Technologically speaking,

we continue to believe that our

value proposition of enhanced

productivity and risk manage-

ment, coupled with the security

aspects of our service offering, 

is compelling and gives us a dis-

tinct advantage in the market-

place. Our migration strategy to a

digital standard is already under-

way, and is designed to provide

our customers a pathway forward

well within the five-year analog

sunset provisions outlined by the

FCC in 2002. The addition of new

multi-mode radio technologies

gives our customers with high

mobility messaging demands 

the ability to send machine-to-

machine (M2M) messages via

Cellemetry� within the TDMA 

and CDMA standards. In addition,

the Company has developed the

capability of utilizing the GSM

digital network standard in con-

junction with its existing analog

provision or as a stand-alone

network offering. As a result, we

believe Numerex will be well

positioned to offer a seamless

transition for our customers into

the world of digital messaging.

New Directions and
Growth Opportunities
Our ability to leverage our tech-

nology and network capabilities

continues to be key to our long-

term success. While our wireless

network technologies, such as

Cellemetry�, provide us with

growing opportunities in several

vertical markets, our primary

focus will be in mobile and fixed

security solutions and vending.

Through our Security Solutions

group, we have repositioned our

mobile tracking product for resale

into the vehicle recovery and

tracking markets, branded as

MobileGuardian�. With the com-

bined accuracy of GPS (Global

Positioning System) and the

unparalleled coverage of Celle-

metry�, the MobileGuardian�

Web-based vehicle location and

recovery product offering is initially

being sold through automotive

dealerships across the country.

MobileGuardian� is positioned

to help reduce the overall risks

and costs associated with auto

theft. We are excited to deliver to

the market a unique solution that

provides vehicle owners with the

ability to track the whereabouts

of their vehicle on-demand, with

unlimited coverage throughout

North America.

Also, as part of our overall mar-

ket strategy realignment and

a letter from the chairman (continued)
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repositioning of the Company’s

distribution strategy, we formed

our Emerging Solutions Group,

which will focus on providing an

end-to-end vending solution for

the bottling industry, along with

developing next-generation solu-

tions for our mobile messaging

service bureau, Data1Source�.

Furthermore, we expect a contin-

ued territorial expansion for our

network solutions, including

Cellemetry� in Latin America and

beyond, and will seek to develop

strategic licensing arrangements

on a selective basis. In addition,

we have modified our strategy of

component selling and will rely

on key component resellers to

fulfill the needs of our value-

added reseller base in both the

fixed and mobile environments.

We continue to believe that key

licensing arrangements coupled

with continued growth in the 

Value-Added Reseller community

will provide long-term benefits.

Moving Ahead
Our experience, expertise and

comprehensive technological

capabilities well position us to

achieve our growth goals. We

continue to believe that our unique

industry differentiation, begin-

ning with our unrivaled wireless

network coverage and flexible

go-to-market wireless telemetry

solutions, give us a distinct mar-

ket advantage, especially when

combined with competitive price

points. We continue to forge new

customer relationships and rein-

force the relationships that are

crucial to our success. We intend

to execute against our clear-cut

wireless data plan with a strate-

gic focus on our wireless data

solutions that show sustain-

able growth. We will continue to

develop end-to-end wireless

data solutions, such as UplinkSM

Security and MobileGuardian�,

where the Company views cer-

tain niche market opportunities

to be under-exploited.

We continue to foresee a difficult

business and economic environ-

ment ahead. Yet, we remain

undeterred in our commitment to

deliver innovative products and

solutions to our customers. We

believe that our financial model

remains sound and that our

renewed vigor and focus on key

market drivers will strengthen

shareholder value through sus-

tainable growth and profitability.

We believe that Numerex is posi-

tioned to overcome the chal-

lenges of 2002 and re-emerge as

a clear market leader in M2M

wireless data communications.

Stratton J. Nicolaides

Chairman and CEO



products and services

Wireless Data Division
Cellemetry�

Cellemetry� Data Service is a

proven technology that uses the

overhead control channels of the

cellular network to transport tele-

metry messages without affecting

the voice channels of the cellular

network. Through 52 carrier alli-

ances, Cellemetry� is the most

extensively deployed cellular-

based data network in North

America, offering 99.9% cover-

age in the United States, Mexico,

and Canada.

Cellemetry� provides two-way,

machine-to-machine (M2M) wire-

less data connectivity for a variety

of communications that remotely

monitor, measure, or track fixed

and mobile assets. Using

Cellemetry� technology, remote

equipment or vehicles can be

polled, time-set, or autonomously

exchange information with a cus-

tomer’s central locations. Infor-

mation gathered is relayed to

and from the customer’s desig-

nated site for collection or for

response. Based on remote con-

ditions, control actions can be

relayed as well. That means, for

example, equipment can be

turned on or off remotely, switches

and gates can be closed, and

pumps triggered. When used in

combination with low-cost Global

Positioning Systems (GPS) appli-

cations, Cellemetry� radios can

pinpoint the precise geographic

location of trucks, automobiles,

railroad cars, barges, containers, 

or other movable assets and 

signal control actions or operator

response messages.

The Cellemetry� patented tech-

nology has been licensed to

strategic partners and applica-

tion developers providing a broad

range of solutions widely avail-

able across North America, and

through expanding coverage in

Latin America. In conjunction with

several manufacturers, dual tech-

nology Cellemetry� radios are now

available, providing Cellemetry�‚

4
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Data Service via AMPS and Digital

AMPS (DAMPS). This allows cus-

tomers to take advantage of the

existing ubiquitous Cellemetry�

network along with CDMA and

TDMA digital networks.

Security Solutions
UplinkSM

Numerex is the established

market leader in the wireless

monitoring of security alarm pan-

els. Utilizing the Cellemetry� net-

work, UplinkSM wireless security

products provide a secure, digi-

tal cellular link that transmits

warning messages to any Alarm

Receiving Center (ARC) central

station in North America in the

event of a line cut or any other

interruption of the telephone

service. UplinkSM can simultane-

ously provide signaling to the

alarm dealer or premise owner

via the Internet, email or alpha-

numeric page. Numerex and 

GE Interlogix have partnered for 

the release of the NX-591E

Cellemetry� module to provide

fast and secure wireless data

transmission of an alarm mes-

sage from Caddx NX panels to 

a central station over the

Cellemetry� network. The module

supports all popular alarm for-

mats, sends full data reporting to

responding police, fire or EMS

units, and features Web-enabled

management, on-demand remote

testing, and daily and weekly

auto tests and reports.

UplinkSM products are licensed

direct to security alarm manu-

facturers and are made available

to security companies. Products

and features include:

� The DigiCell 1650� alarm

transceiver is a cellular digital

communicator designed to

provide full data transmission

from virtually any alarm panel.

� The DigiCell 1500� universal

alarm transceiver is a digital

cellular unit designed to signal

the central monitoring station

even if telephone lines have

been cut or damaged.

MobileGuardian�

MobileGuardian� is a Web-based

vehicle recovery and location

solution like no other that com-

bines the accuracy of  GPS

(Global Positioning System) with

the unparalleled coverage of 

Numerex’s Cellemetry� network.

In the event of vehicle theft, own-

ers can receive notification via any

email-enabled device, and can

then locate their car through the 



secure MobileGuardian� Web

site, www.mymobileguardian.com,

by paging the vehicle to retrieve

street-level data. Users can then

remotely disable the vehicle, pre-

venting it from being re-started

once turned off, and guide law

enforcement authorities to its

location. Key features include:

� Nationwide wireless coverage

via the Cellemetry� network

� Immediate theft alarm notifi-

cation messaging sent to any

email-enabled device

� On-demand location 

information; for personal track-

ing or vehicle recovery

� Remotely enable and 

disable the vehicle

� Secure Web interface for

monitoring and reporting

� No monthly fees for the

consumer

Emerging 
Wireless Solutions
Data1Source�

Data1Source� is the leading

provider of SMS and wireless

Internet solutions for wireless

service providers (carriers) from

a service bureau environment.

From its centralized platform,

Data1Source� offers carriers who

lack the required economies of

scale for investing capital in SMS

network infrastructure, a full suite

of mobile messaging solutions

without having to invest in addi-

tional equipment, network con-

nectivity, personnel, IT, facilities

or support.

With Data1Source�, carriers can

save 100 percent of their capital

expenditure budgets through

benefits of service outsourcing,

continual technological upgrades

and extensive support provided

by the Data1Source� business,

product and software develop-

ment team. Key services pro-

vided include:

products and services

6
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� Mobile-originate and Mobile-

terminate Messaging: With

universal language support,

including GSM, TDMA, CDMA

and USC2 character sets.

� Mobile Email: Two-way email

addressing and communica-

tions, with alias personalization

by the mobile user.

� SMS Paging: Through the use

of an integrated Interactive

Voice Response (IVR) system

and Telocator Alphanumeric

Protocol (TAP) Interface

� Over-The-Air Functionality

(OTAF) for TDMA Networks

� Transaction Billing

In addition to the above-

men t i oned  scope  o f  t he

Data1Source� platform, offering

the solution also provides addi-

tional supplementary benefits

such as:

� Inter-Carrier Interoperability

� Smart Messaging Solutions

(i.e., ringtones and icons)

� Customized News Content

� Prepaid Alerts and 

Real-Time Usage

� Professional Services

Vending Solutions

Numerex has developed a unique

wireless automation solution to

benefit cold beverage vending

operators in North America and

parts of Latin America. Through

the innovative and intelligent use

of wireless remote monitoring,

Numerex’s FT-V vending solution

is a Web-based software solution

that transmits information to any

email-enabled device via Num-

erex’s Cellemetry� Data Service.

The FT-V solution enables vend-

ing operators to manage the

quality, security and delivery of

their products by providing regu-

lar and intelligent analysis of

sales data by brand, location

and time. Alerts are also sent via

email or SMS text message in

7
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alarm situations such as diminish-

ing stock levels and power failure.

Product highlights include:

� Sales reporting

� Route management

� Stock information

� Controller error messaging

� Machine activity

� Coin activity

Wireline Division
Digilog�

Digilog� provides centrally con-

trolled network monitoring and

fault management solutions to

operating telephone companies.

Digilog’s network engineers can

tailor hardware and application

software to the specific needs 

of central telecommunications

offices anywhere; developing

and integrating test and monitor-

ing equipment to meet industry

needs. Digilog’s products have

been deployed by leading com-

panies in the telecommunica-

tions industry, transportation and

government. Digilog’s NSS II test

access nodes are monitoring

more than 95,000 circuits in more

than 30 countries worldwide.

Digilog� solutions can be broken

down into three categories: Test

Access, Interconnecting Devices,

and services including System

Integration (rack and stack) and

Installation.

� Test Access. The Digilog�

Network Analysis and Monitor-

ing System (NAMS) provides 

� prompt alarm notification of 

a network failure, automatic

activation of backup devices,

and a means to track down

operational database errors.

� Interconnecting Devices. The

Digilog� Channel Access Unit

(CAU) provides the physical

interconnection between the

network and complex monitor-

ing devices.

� System Integration and Instal-

lation. System Integration and

Installations services are the

assembly of both customer

supplied and Digilog� manu-

factured components into rack

and cabinet configurations 

for installation in the telephone

company’s central office.



PowerPlay�

PowerPlay� is the world’s only

eight-way multi-point IP video

conferencing system that does

not require an external bridge 

or Media Control Unit (MCU).

PowerPlay� provides superior

video and audio for real-time,

multi-point communications for

use by non-technical users. It is

the first and only video confer-

encing system that lets a user

just “point and click” to conduct

an eight-way, fully-interactive

videoconference. PowerPlay� is

available in configurations for

personal desktop, small group,

and large conference room use.

It is a fully compliant, H.323-

based system that interoperates

with all other H.323 video-

conferencing competitors, and

can operate over any standard

IP network.

PowerPlay� offers up to seven

fully controllable audio and video

inputs, and can be configured

with any combination of pan-tilt-

zoom (PTZ) cameras, desktop

cameras, headsets, speaker

systems, microphones, echo-

cancellers, VCRs and DVD

players. It includes application

and document collaboration 

that performs better than any

other collaboration system in 

the industry. It also provides 

full eight-way interaction and

sharing of virtually any PC appli-

cation (such as documents, Web

browsers, MS Office, or drawing

and painting utilities) with no

additional equipment and no

secondary attached PC.

DCX Systems

DCX Systems designs, manu-

factures, and markets telephone-

based alarm transport networks

and terminal equipment. These

proprietary data networks, known

as Derived Channel Multiplex

(DCX), provide a reliable and

secure transmission medium for

high-grade burglar and fire alarm

signals as well as other critical

event monitoring messages.

In addition to the Derived 

Channel products manufactured 

and sold by DCX Systems, the

Company has developed a

family of intrusion alarm products

and telephone network manage-

ment products, which it manu-

factures and markets through

other subsidiaries in the U.S. 

and the U.K.

9
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The Company does not currently pay any cash dividends. In deciding whether or not to declare or pay
dividends in the future, the Board of Directors will consider all relevant factors, including the Company’s
earnings, financial condition, and working capital, capital expenditure requirements, any restrictions
contained in loan agreements and market factors and conditions.

The Company’s Common Stock is quoted on the NASDAQ National Market and traded under the symbol
“NMRX.”

The following table sets forth, for the fiscal quarters indicated, the high and low sales prices per
share for the Common Stock on the NASDAQ National Market for the applicable periods.

Fiscal 2002 High Low

First Quarter (January 1 to March 31) $ 9.50 $7.00

Second Quarter (April 1 to June 30) 11.47 7.11

Third Quarter (July 1 to September 30) 8.93 3.99

Fourth Quarter (October 1 to December 31) 5.08 2.00

Fiscal 2001 High Low

First Quarter (January 1 to March 31) $ 9.38 $5.94

Second Quarter (April 1 to June 30) 9.60 5.10

Third Quarter (July 1 to September 30) 9.04 5.82

Fourth Quarter (October 1 to December 31) 7.65 5.85

dividend policy

stock price table
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selected consolidated financial data

For the years ended December 31,

(in thousands, except per share data) 2002 2001 2000

Statement of Income Data:

Net Sales:

Wireless Data Communications $14,209 $11,500 $ 7,002

Digital Multimedia and Networking 9,354 11,644 10,730

Wireline Security 938 1,114 2,558

Total net sales 24,501 24,258 20,290

Cost of sales 13,952 14,737 12,020

Depreciation and amortization 328 267 270

Gross profit 10,221 9,254 8,000

Research and development expenses 1,097 2,755 3,430

Selling, general, administrative, and other expenses 12,509 10,710 10,983

Depreciation and amortization 2,184 2,701 2,593

Costs related to non-recurring acquisition activity 1,899 — —

Non-recurring employee separation costs — 418 —

Operating loss (7,468) (7,330) (9,006)

Interest and other income, net (212) 934 1,900

Minority interest 326 3,139 3,146

Loss before income taxes (7,354) (3,257) (3,960)

Income taxes 96 (115) —

Net loss $ (7,450) $ (3,142) $ (3,960)

Loss per share $ (0.71) $ (0.32) $ (0.40)

Weighted average shares outstanding 10,766 10,446 10,512

Balance sheet data:

Working capital $ 4,951 $11,128 $16,876

Total assets $37,111 $42,974 $45,942

Shareholder’s equity $27,615 $34,108 $36,902

See notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Forward-Looking Statements
This document contains certain forward-looking
statements within the meaning of Section 27A of 
the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934. These state-
ments include, among other things, statements
regarding trends, strategies, plans, beliefs, inten-
tions, expectations, goals, and opportunities.
Forward-looking statements are typically identified
by words or phrases such as “believe,” “expect,”
“anticipate,” “intend,” “estimate,” “assume,” “strat-
egy,” “plan,” “outlook,” “outcome,” “continue,”
“remain,” “trend,” and variations of such words
and similar expressions, or future or conditional
verbs such as “will,” “would,” “should,” “could,”
“may,” or similar expressions. All statements and
information herein and incorporated by reference
herein, other than statements of historical fact, are
forward-looking statements that are based upon a
number of assumptions concerning future condi-
tions that ultimately may prove to be inaccurate.
Many phases of the Company’s operations are
subject to influences outside its control. The
Company cautions that these forward-looking
statements are subject to numerous assumptions,
risks and uncertainties, which change over time.
These forward-looking statements speak only as
of the date of this Annual Report, and the Company
assumes no duty to update forward-looking state-
ments. Actual results could differ materially from
those anticipated in these forward-looking state-
ments and future results could differ materially
from historical performance.

Any one or any combination of factors could
have a material adverse effect on the Company’s
results of operations or could cause actual results 
to differ materially from forward-looking statements
or historical performance. These factors include:
the pace of technological change; variations in

quarterly operating results; delays in the develop-
ment, introduction and marketing of new wireless
products and services; customer acceptance of
products and services; economic conditions; the
inability to attain revenue and earnings growth;
changes in interest rates; inflation; the introduc-
tion, withdrawal, success and timing of business
initiatives and strategies; competitive conditions;
the extent and timing of technological changes;
changes in customer spending; the loss of intel-
lectual property protection; general economic
conditions and conditions affecting the capital
markets. Actual events, developments and results
could differ materially from those anticipated or
projected in the forward-looking statements as a
result of certain uncertainties set forth below and
elsewhere in this document. Subsequent written
or oral statements attributable to the Company or
persons acting on its behalf are expressly qualified
in their entirety by the cautionary statements in
this report and those in the Company’s reports
previously and subsequently filed with the Secu-
rities and Exchange Commission.

Overview
Numerex Corp. (the “Company”) is a technology
company comprised of operating subsidiaries
that develop and market a wide range of wireless
and wireline communications products and serv-
ices. The Company’s primary focus is wireless
data communications utilizing proprietary network
technologies. The Company primarily offers prod-
ucts and services in wireless data communica-
tions through Cellemetry� and Data1Source�, and
digital multimedia through PowerPlay�. These
services enable customers around the globe to
monitor and move information for a variety of
applications from home and business security to
distance learning. In addition, the Company offers

management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition 
and results of operations
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wireline alarm security products and services, as
well as telecommunications network operational
support systems.

The following is a discussion of the consoli-
dated financial condition and results of operations
of the Company for the fiscal years ended
December 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000. This discus-
sion should be read in conjunction with the
Company’s consolidated financial statements, the
related notes thereto, and other financial informa-
tion included elsewhere in this report.

Critical Accounting Policies
Note A of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements includes a summary of the significant
accounting policies and methods used in the
preparation of Numerex’s Consolidated Financial
Statements. The following is a brief discussion of
the more significant accounting policies and
methods used.

General
The preparation of financial statements in con-
formity with generally accepted accounting prin-
ciples requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of con-
tingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting peri-
ods. The most significant estimates and assump-
tions relate to revenue recognition, accounts
receivable and allowance for doubtful accounts,
inventories and the adequacy of reserves for
excess and obsolete inventories, accounting for
income taxes and valuation of goodwill and other
intangible assets. Actual amounts could differ
significantly from these estimates.

Revenue Recognition
The Company’s revenue is generated from three
sources:

• the supply of product, under non-recurring
agreements,

• the provision of services, under non-recurring
agreements, and,

• the provision of data transportation services,
under recurring or multi-year contractually
based agreements.

Revenue is recognized when persuasive evi-
dence of an agreement exists, the product or
service has been delivered, fees and prices are
fixed and determinable, collectibility is probable
and when all other significant obligations have
been fulfilled.

The Company generates substantially all of
its net sales from the sale of equipment, systems
and software products and recurring network
service revenues to its customers. Products are
typically shipped soon after order placement.
Therefore, sales order backlog historically has not
been a meaningful indicator for the Company.

The Company recognizes revenue from prod-
uct sales at the time of shipment and passage of
title. The Company offers customers the right to
return products that do not function properly
within a limited time after delivery. The Company
continuously monitors and tracks such product
returns and records a provision for the estimated
amount of such future returns, based on historical
experience and any notification received of pend-
ing returns. While such returns have historically
been within expectations and the provisions
established, the Company cannot guarantee that
it will continue to experience the same return
rates that it has experienced in the past. Any sig-
nificant increase in product failure rates and the

management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition 
and results of operations (continued)
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resulting credit returns could have a material
adverse impact on operating results for the period
or periods in which such returns materialize.

The Company recognizes revenue from the
provision of services at the time of the completion,
delivery or performance of the service. In the case
of revenue derived from maintenance services the
Company recognizes revenue ratably over the
contract term. In certain instances the Company
may under an appropriate agreement advance
charge for the service to be provided. In these
instances the Company recognizes the advance
charge as deferred revenue (classified as a liabil-
ity) and releases the revenue ratably over future
periods in accordance with the contract term as
the service is completed, delivered or performed.

The Company also recognizes revenue from
the provision of ’multiple element service agree-
ments’, which involve both the supply of product
and the provision of services over a multi-year
arrangement. Accounting principles for agree-
ments involving multiple elements require the
Company to allocate earned revenue to each ele-
ment based on the relative fair value of the ele-
ments. The arrangement fee for multiple-element
arrangements is allocated to each element, such
as design, product supply, product integration,
installation, maintenance, support and warranty
services, based on the relative fair values of the
elements. The Company determines the fair value
of each element in multi-element arrangements
based on vendor-specific objective evidence
(“VSOE”). VSOE for each element is based on the
price charged when the same element is sold
separately or could be purchased from an
unrelated supplier. If evidence of fair value of all
delivered elements exists but evidence does not
exist for one or more undelivered elements, then
revenue is recognized using the residual method.

Under the residual method, the fair value of the
undelivered element is deferred and is recog-
nized ratably over the contract term on an earned
basis. In the case of the supply of product the
Company maintains title to the product and trans-
fers title at the completion of the contract term.

The Company’s arrangements do not gener-
ally include acceptance clauses. However,
arrangements involving multiple element service
agreements include certain milestones and levels
of certification, acceptance occurs upon the
Company’s certification of its completion of each
of the various elements.

The Company recognizes revenue from the
provision of its data transportation services when
the Company performs the services or processes
transactions in accordance with contractual per-
formance standards. Revenue is earned monthly
on the basis of the contracted monthly fee and an
excess message fee charge, should it apply, that
is volume based. In certain instances the Company
may under an appropriate agreement advance
charge for the data transport service to be pro-
vided. In these instances the Company recog-
nizes the advance charge (even if nonrefundable)
as deferred revenue (classified as a liability) and
releases the revenue over future periods in accor-
dance with the contract term as the data transport
service is delivered or performed.

Accounts Receivable and 
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
The Company’s estimate for its allowance for
doubtful accounts related to trade receivables is
based on two methods. The amounts calculated
from each of these methods are combined to
determine the total amount reserved:

• first, the Company evaluates specific accounts
where information exists that the customer may



16

have an inability to meet its financial obligations
(bankruptcy, etc.). In these cases, the Company
uses its judgment, based on the best available
facts and circumstances, and records a specific
reserve for that customer against amounts due 
to reduce the receivable to the amount that is
expected to be collected. These specific reserves
are reevaluated and adjusted as additional
information is received that impacts the amount
reserved; and,

• second, a general reserve is established for all
customers based on a range of percentages
applied to aging categories.

These percentages are based on historical
collection and write-off experience. If circum-
stances change (i.e. higher than expected defaults
or an unexpected material adverse change in a
major customer’s ability to meet its financial obli-
gation to the Company), the Company’s estimates
of the recoverability of amounts due the Company
could be reduced by a material amount.

The Company recognizes that material differ-
ences may result in the amount and timing of
expenses for any period if the Company made
different judgments or utilized different estimates.
The Company’s allowance for doubtful accounts
amounted to $1,272,000, as of December 31, 2002.

Inventories and Reserves for Excess, 
Slow-Moving and Obsolete Inventory
The Company values inventory at the lower of
cost or market, which equates to net realizable
value. The Company continually evaluates the
composition of its inventory and identifies, with
estimates, potential future excess, obsolete and
slow-moving inventories. The Company specifi-
cally identifies obsolete products for reserve pur-
poses and analyzes historical usage, forecasted
production based on demand forecasts, current

economic trends, and historical write-offs when
evaluating the adequacy of the reserve for excess
and slow-moving inventory. If the Company is not
able to achieve its expectations of the net realiz-
able value of the inventory at its current value, the
Company would adjust its reserves accordingly.

Material differences in estimates of excess,
slow-moving and obsolete inventory may result in
the amount and timing of cost of sales for any
period if the Company made different judgments or
utilized different estimates. The Company’s reserve
for excess, slow-moving and obsolete inventory
amounted to $776,000, as of December 31, 2002.

Valuation of Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
The Company assesses the impairment of good-
will and identifiable intangible assets whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying value may not be recoverable.
Factors considered important which could trigger
an impairment review include the following:

• significant underperformance relative to expected
historical or projected future operating results;

• significant changes in the manner of use of the
acquired assets or the strategy for the overall
business; and,

• significant negative industry or economic trends.

When determined that the carrying value of
goodwill and other intangible assets may not be
recoverable based upon the existence of one or
more of the above indicators of impairment, the
Company measures any impairment based on a
projected discounted cash flow method using a
discount rate determined by management to be
commensurate with the risk inherent in the
Company’s current business model. Net goodwill
and other intangible assets amounted to
$20,996,000 as of December 31, 2002.

management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition 
and results of operations (continued)
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In 2002, SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets, became effective and as a result,
the Company ceased to amortize $10,983,000 of
goodwill. The Company had recorded $733,000
of amortization on these amounts during 2001
and would have recorded approximately $768,000
of amortization during 2002. In lieu of amortiza-
tion, the Company was required to perform an ini-
tial impairment review of goodwill in 2002 and an
annual impairment review thereafter. Based on
this initial review the Company did not record an
impairment charge.

The above listing is not intended to be a com-
prehensive list of all of Numerex’s accounting

policies. In many cases, the accounting treatment
of a particular transaction is specifically dictated
by generally accepted accounting principles, with
no need for management’s judgment in their
application. There are also areas in which man-
agement’s judgment in selecting any available
alternative would not produce a materially different
result. See the Company’s audited consolidated
financial statements and notes thereto which
begin on page 30 of this Annual Report and page
F-1 in the Company’s Form 10-K, which contain
accounting policies and other disclosures required
by generally accepted accounting principles.



Selected Consolidated Statements of Operation
Twelve Month Period Ended

December 31,

(in thousands) 2002 2001 2000

Net sales:

Wireless Data Communications

Product $ 7,461 $ 7,007 $ 3,990

Service 6,748 4,493 3,012

Sub-total 14,209 11,500 7,002

Digital Multimedia and Networking

Product 5,668 7,948 8,466

Service 3,686 3,696 2,264

Sub-total 9,354 11,644 10,730

Wireline Security

Product 230 392 768

Service 708 722 1,790

Sub-total 938 1,114 2,558

Total net sales

Product 13,359 15,347 13,224

Service 11,142 8,911 7,066

Total net sales 24,501 24,258 20,290

Cost of sales 13,952 14,737 12,020

Depreciation and amortization 328 267 270

Gross profit 10,221 9,254 8,000

% 41.7% 38.1% 39.4%

Research and development expenses 1,097 2,755 3,430

Selling, general, administrative and other expenses 12,509 10,710 10,983

Depreciation and amortization 2,184 2,701 2,593

Costs related to non-recurring acquisition activity 1,899 — —

Non-recurring employee separation costs — 418 —

Operating loss (7,468) (7,330) (9,006)

Loss before income taxes (7,450) (3,142) (3,960)

Net loss applicable to common shareholders $ (7,690) $ (3,382) $ (4,200)

Basic loss per share $ (0.71) $ (0.32) $ (0.40)

Weighted average shares outstanding 10,766 10,446 10,512
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Result of Operations
The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the percentage of net sales represented by
selected items in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Twelve Month Period Ended

December 31,

2002 2001 2000

Net sales:

Wireless Data Communications

Product 30.5% 28.9% 19.7%

Service 27.5% 18.5% 14.8%

Sub-total 58.0% 47.4% 34.5%

Digital Multimedia and Networking

Product 23.1% 32.8% 41.7%

Service 15.0% 15.2% 11.2%

Sub-total 38.2% 48.0% 52.9%

Wireline Security

Product 0.9% 1.6% 3.8%

Service 2.9% 3.0% 8.8%

Sub-total 3.8% 4.6% 12.6%

Total net sales

Product 54.5% 63.3% 65.2%

Service 45.5% 36.7% 34.8%

Total net sales 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Cost of sales 56.9% 60.8% 59.2%

Depreciation and amortization 1.3% 1.1% 1.3%

Gross profit 41.7% 38.1% 39.4%

Research and development expenses 4.5% 11.4% 16.9%

Selling, general, administrative and other expenses 51.1% 44.2% 54.1%

Depreciation and amortization 8.9% 11.1% 12.8%

Costs related to non-recurring acquisition activity 7.8% 0.0% 0.0%

Non-recurring employee separation costs 0.0% 1.7% 0.0%

Operating loss (30.5%) (30.2%) (44.4%)

Net loss (30.4%) (13.0%) (19.5%)

Net loss applicable to common shareholders (31.4%) (13.9%) (20.7%)

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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Fiscal Years Ended December 31, 2002 and
December 31, 2001
Net sales increased 1.0% to $24,501,000 for the
year ended December 31, 2002, as compared to
$24,258,000 for the year ended December 31,
2001. This increase in total net sales was the
result of increased net sales from Wireless Data
Communication products and services, partially
offset by a decrease in net sales from Digital
Multimedia and Networking and Wireline Security
products and services. As a percentage of total
net sales, services revenues of the Company
increased to 45.5% for the year ended December
31, 2002 compared to 36.7% in the comparable
period in 2001.

Net sales from Wireless Data Communications
increased 23.6% to $14,209,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2002, as compared to $11,500,000
for the year ended December 31, 2001 and as a
percentage of the Company’s total net sales,
Wireless Data Communications increased to 58.0%
for the year ended December 31, 2002 compared
to 47.4% in the comparable period in 2001. This
increase in net sales was primarily due to higher
services revenues from increased connections on
the Company’s Cellemetry� network, primarily
related to security monitoring, and from an increase
in digital subscribers utilizing the Company’s
Data1Source� mobile messaging service. Also
contributing to the increase in net sales was
higher product sales, primarily in the Company’s
wireless security devices and from the introduction
of mobile wireless devices in the beginning of 2002.

Net sales from Digital Multimedia and Net-
working decreased 19.7% to $9,354,000 for the
year ended December 31, 2002, as compared to
$11,644,000 for the year ended December 31,
2001. This decrease in net sales was primarily due
to lower product sales as the result of decreases
in capital spending by distant learning customers.

Net sales from Wireline Security decreased
15.8% to $938,000 for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2002, as compared to $1,114,000 for the
year ended December 31, 2001. This decrease
was the result of continued decline in derived
channel sales activity resulting from the divest-
ment of Company’s derived channel technology in
November 1999 and the resulting de-emphasis
on the sale and marketing of derived channel
technology.

Cost of sales decreased 5.3% to $13,952,000
for the year ended December 31, 2002, as com-
pared to $14,737,000 for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2001. This decrease was primarily due to
the lower product sales volume in Digital Multimedia
and Networking and lower product costs due to
the redesign of the certain wireless devices that
were introduced in the first quarter of 2002.

Cost of sales depreciation and amortization
expense increased 23.2% to $328,000 for the
year ended December 31, 2002, as compared to
$267,000 for the year ended December 31, 2001.

Gross profit, as a percentage of net sales,
was 41.7% for the year ended December 31,
2002, as compared to 38.1% for the year ended
December 31, 2001. The reason for the increase
in the gross profit rate for the year was primarily
attributable to the higher service activities of
Wireless Data Communications, along with the
lower product costs due to the redesign of certain
wireless devices.

Research and development expenses
decreased 60.2% to $1,097,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2002, as compared to $2,755,000
for the year ended December 31, 2001. The prin-
cipal reasons for the decrease in research and
development expenses was the reduced require-
ment for development efforts in 2002 for the 

management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition 
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Company’s product and services and the capital-
ization of development costs of $872,000 during
the year for new products and services that
reached technical feasibility and for internal use
software developed during these periods.

Selling, general, administrative, and other
expenses increased 16.8% to $12,509,000 for the
year ended December 31, 2002, as compared to
$10,701,000 for the year ended December 31,
2001. As a percentage of sales, selling, general,
administrative and other expenses increased 
to 51.1% for the year ended December 31, 2002,
as compared to 44.2% for the year ended
December 31, 2001. The primary reason for the
increase in expenses for 2002 was due to the
recording of $1,837,000 in bad debt expense
related to customer product repossessions and
increases in allowances for doubtful accounts.
This compared to $589,000 in 2001. 

Operating expense depreciation and amorti-
zation expense decreased 19.1% to $2,184,000
for the year ended December 31, 2002, as
compared to $2,701,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2001. The principal reason for the
decrease is due to the reduction in goodwill amor-
tization expense resulting from the implementa-
tion of SFAS 142 on January 1, 2002.

Costs related to non-recurring acquisition
activity were $1,899,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2002. This write-off was the result
of the Company reaching an impasse in the sec-
ond quarter of 2002 in its negotiations with BT
Group plc to acquire their RedCARE division, its
security products and service business. These
costs were primarily related to legal and account-
ing expenses incurred during due diligence and
negotiations.

Non-recurring employee separation costs
amounted to $418,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2001.

Interest and other income for the year ended
December 31, 2002 was $(212,000) compared to
$934,000 for the year ended December 31, 2001.
This decrease in net interest and other income
were primarily the result of a decrease in income
earned on cash balances and an increase in
interest expense from capital leases established
in the first quarter of 2002.

Minority interest for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2002 was $326,000 compared to $3,139,000
for the year ended December 31, 2001. The prin-
ciple reason for the decrease in minority interest
was the depletion of minority interest on the Com-
pany’s balance sheet related to a joint venture.

The Company, due to the loss position from
operations, did not record a tax provision in the
years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001,
respectively. The $96,000 in income tax expense
recorded for 2002 relates principally to an income
tax withholding on an international product and
service sale and the $(115,000) provision for the
recovery of income tax recorded in the 2001
followed the completion and submission of the
Company’s federal income tax returns in connec-
tion with an assessed over payment of federal
income tax installments in connection with the
sale of the Company’s derived channel technology.

The Company recorded a net loss of
$7,450,000 for the year ended December 31,
2002 compared to a net loss of $3,142,000 for the
year ended December 31, 2001.

The Company recorded a net loss applicable
to common shareholders of $7,690,000 for the
year ended December 31, 2002, as compared to
net loss applicable to common shareholders of
$3,382,000 for the year ended December 31, 2001.
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Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per com-
mon share decreased to $(0.71) for year ended
December 31, 2002, as compared to $(0.32) for
the year ended December 31, 2001.

The weighted average and diluted shares
outstanding increased to 10,766,000 for the year
ended December 31, 2002, as compared to
10,446,000 for the year ended December 31,
2001. The increase in shares outstanding was pri-
marily due to the exercise of stock options.

Fiscal Years Ended December 31, 2001 and
December 31, 2000
Net sales increased 19.6% to $24,258,000 for the
year ended December 31, 2001, as compared to
$20,290,000 for the year ended December 31, 2000.

The 19.6% increase in net sales in fiscal 2001,
as compared to fiscal 2000 embodies an increase
of 16.4% in product sales revenues predominantly
derived from increased sales from Wireless Data
Communications and, to a lesser extent, Digital
Multimedia offset by a decrease in Wireline Data
Communications (Derived Channel) product sales
revenues and an increase of 26.1% in service
revenues predominantly derived from increased
service revenues from Wireless Data Commu-
nications offset by a decrease in Networking
service revenues.

Digital Multimedia and Networking product
and service sales and revenues increased 8.5%
to $11,644,000 for the year ended December 31,
2001, as compared to $10,730,000 for the year
ended December 31, 2000.

The principal reason for the increase in prod-
uct and service sales and revenues in fiscal 2001,
as compared to fiscal 2000 was a 19.3% increase
in Digital Multimedia product and service sales
and revenues resulting from the transition to the
marketing and sale of the digital hardware and

software based product platform, PowerPlay�. In
addition, product and service sales and revenues
from Digital Multimedia were also positively
impacted by continued growth in network or data
solution product sales and related services.
Networking product and service sales and
revenues decreased 7.7% resulting from a reduc-
tion in sales activity from the telecommuni-
cations industry.

Wireline Data Communications (Derived
Channel) product and service sales and revenues
decreased 56.5% to $1,114,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2001, as compared to $2,558,000
for the year ended December 31, 2000.

The principal reason for the decrease in sales
in fiscal 2001, as compared to fiscal 2000 was the
ongoing decline in Wireline Data Communications
(Derived Channel) sales activity resulting from the
divestment of Company’s derived channel tech-
nology in November 1999 and the resulting de-
emphasis on the sale and marketing of derived
channel technology. One-time product and serv-
ice contract sales and revenues generated from
Australia in the three-month period ended March
31, 2000, impacted on the fiscal year comparison.
Excluding the Australian one-time product and
services contract sales and revenues, Wireline
Data Communications (Derived Channel) product
and service sales and revenues decreased 22.5%.

Wireless Data Communications product and
service sales and revenues increased 64.2% to
$11,500,000 for the year ended December 31,
2001, as compared to $7,002,000 for the year
ended December 31, 2000.

The principal reason for the increase in prod-
uct and service sales and revenues in fiscal 2001,
as compared to fiscal 2000 was the continued
growth in product sales, driven by the Company’s
Circuit Watch�, Fast Track Wireless Solutions�,

management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition 
and results of operations (continued)
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and Uplink� product offerings and service rev-
enues, driven by the Company’s Cellemetry�,
Data1Source�, Fast Track Wireless Solutions�,
and Uplink� service offerings, resulting from the
marketing and sales effort to establish the Company
as a recognized national and international wire-
less data communications service provider.

Cost of sales increased 22.6% to $14,737,000
for the year ended December 31, 2001, as com-
pared to $12,020,000 for the for the year ended
December 31, 2000.

The principal reason for the increase in cost
of sales in fiscal 2001, as compared to fiscal 2000
resulted from the combined impact of the Com-
pany’s increased level of sales activity and in par-
ticular the increased levels of product sales from
Digital Multimedia and Wireless Data Communi-
cations offset, to an extent, by the decrease in
Networking and Wireline Data Communications
(Derived Channel) product sales activity, particu-
larly the one-time product and service contract
sales and revenues generated from Australia in
the three-month period ended March 31, 2000. In
addition, inventory write-downs amounted to
$191,000 for the year ended December 31, 2001,
and represented a one-time non-cash charge to
cover the write-down of excess and obsolete
Digital Multimedia analog product inventory.

Cost of sales depreciation and amortization
decreased 1.1% to $267,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2001, as compared to $270,000 for
the year ended December 31, 2000.

Gross profit as a percentage of net sales
decreased to 38.1% for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2001, as compared to 39.4% for the year
ended December 31, 2000.

The principal reason for the decrease in
gross profit in fiscal 2001, as compared to fiscal
2000 was the combined impact of the one-time

product and service contract sales and revenues
generated from Australia in the three-month
period ended March 31, 2000, and the one-time
non-cash charge to cover the write-down of
excess and obsolete Digital Multimedia analog
product inventory offset, to a lesser extent, by the
gross profit earned on the increased levels of
product sales from Digital Multimedia and Wire-
less Data Communications.

Research and development expenses
decreased 19.7% to $2,755,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2001, as compared to $3,430,000
for the year ended December 31, 2000.

The principal reason for the decrease in
research and development expenses in fiscal
2001, as compared to fiscal 2000 resulted primarily
from decreased Digital Multimedia and Wireless
Data Communications expenditures following the
completion of a number of projects.

Selling, general, administrative and other
expenses decreased 2.5% to $10,710,000 for the
year ended December 31, 2001, as compared to
$10,983,000 for the year ended December 31, 2000.

The principal reason for the decrease in sell-
ing, general, administrative and other expenses in
fiscal 2001, as compared to the fiscal 2000 resulted
from an overall decrease in administration, man-
agement and organizational expenses and sales
and marketing activity and expenditures.

Operating expense depreciation and amorti-
zation increased 4.2% to $2,701,000 for the year
ended December 31, 2001, as compared to
$2,593,000 for the year ended December 31, 2000.

The increase in operating expense deprecia-
tion and amortization in fiscal 2001, as compared
to fiscal 2000 resulted primarily from increased
fixed asset additions.
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Non-recurring employee separation costs
amounted to $418,000 for the year to Decem-
ber 31, 2001.

Interest and other income decreased 50.8%
to $934,000 for the year ended December 31,
2001, as compared to $1,900,000 for the year
ended December 31, 2000.

The decrease in interest and other income in
fiscal 2001, as compared to fiscal 2000 is primarily
related to decreased interest income earned on
cash balances and the impact in fiscal 2000 of
the release of funds held in escrow and an over
provision for federal and state taxes in connection
with the divestment of the Company’s derived
channel technology.

Minority interest decreased 0.2% to $3,139,000
for the year ended December 31, 2001, as com-
pared to $3,146,000 for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2000. The gain represents that portion of
the losses of the Company’s Wireless Data Com-
munications business that is not accounted for by
the Company.

The Company, due to its loss position from
operations, did not record a tax provision for the
years ended December 31, 2001, and 2000,
respectively. However, the Company has recorded
the recovery of income tax amounting to $115,000
following the completion and submittal of the
Company’s federal income tax returns in connec-
tion with an assessed over payment of federal
income tax installments in connection with the
sale of the Company’s derived channel technology.

The Company recorded a net loss of
$3,142,000 for the year ended December 31,
2001, as compared to a net loss of $3,960,000 for
the year ended December 31, 2000.

The principal reason for the decrease in the
net loss for fiscal 2001, as compared to 2000 was
the increase in product and service sales and

revenues and associated underlying gross profit
and the decrease in operating expenses.

The Company recorded a net loss applicable
to common shareholders of $3,382,000 for the
year ended December 31, 2001, as compared to
net loss applicable to common shareholders of
$4,200,000 for the year ended December 31, 2000.

Basic and diluted loss per share decreased
to $(0.32) for the year ended December 31, 2001,
as compared to $(0.40) for the year ended
December 31, 2000.

The weighted average and diluted shares
outstanding decreased to 10,446,000 for the 
year ended December 31, 2001, as compared to
weighted average and diluted shares outstand-
ing of 10,512,000 for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2000.

Selected Quarterly Financial Data
The following tables detail certain unaudited
financial data of the Company for each quarter of
the last two fiscal years ended December 31, 2002,
and 2001, respectively.

The Company’s financial results may fluctu-
ate from quarter to quarter as a result of factors,
including the timing of product shipments, new
product introductions and equipment, product
and system sales that historically have been of a
non-recurring nature.

The information has been prepared from the
books and records of the Company in accor-
dance with generally accepted accounting princi-
ples for interim financial information. In the opinion
of management, all (including only normal, recur-
ring adjustments) considered necessary for fair
presentation have been included. Interim results for
any quarter are not necessarily indicative of the
results that may be expected for any future period.
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Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)
Three Months Ended

March 31, June 30, Sept. 30, Dec. 31,

(in thousands, except per share data) 2002 2002 2002 2002

Net sales:

Wireless Data Communications

Product $2,658 $ 2,211 $ 2,215 $ 374

Service 1,591 2,303 1,539 1,315

Sub-total 4,249 4,514 3,754 1,689

Digital Multimedia and Networking

Product 2,199 1,748 952 749

Service 437 987 1,086 1,196

Sub-total 2,636 2,735 2,038 1,945

Wireline Security

Product 81 173 58 125

Service 128 86 188 102

Sub-total 209 259 246 227

Total net sales

Product 4,938 4,132 3,225 1,248

Service 2,156 3,376 2,813 2,613

Total net sales 7,094 7,508 6,038 3,861

Cost of sales 3,535 3,569 3,761 3,087

Depreciation and amortization 49 54 105 120

Gross profit 3,510 3,885 2,172 654

Research and development expenses 602 188 (63) 370

Selling, general, administrative and other expenses 2,456 2,952 3,805 3,296

Depreciation and amortization 518 549 552 565

Costs related to non-recurring acquisition activity — 1,714 185 —

Non-recurring employee separation costs — — — —

Operating loss $ (66) $(1,518) $(2,307) $(3,577)

Net loss $ 199 $(1,642) $(2,338) $(3,669)

Basic earnings (loss) per share $ 0.02 $ (0.16) $ (0.22) $ (0.33)

Weighted average shares outstanding 10,582 10,729 10,773 10,973
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Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited) (continued from page 25)

Three Months Ended

March 31, June 30, Sept. 30, Dec. 31,

(in thousands, except per share data) 2001 2001 2001 2001

Net sales:

Wireless Data Communications

Product $ 1,295 $ 1,314 $ 2,053 $2,187

Service 743 1,402 1,165 1,341

Sub-total 2,038 2,716 3,218 3,528

Digital Multimedia and Networking

Product 2,213 2,735 2,007 1,829

Service 803 474 852 731

Sub-total 3,016 3,209 2,859 2,560

Wireline Security

Product 105 105 22 331

Service 143 60 146 202

Sub-total 248 165 168 533

Total net sales

Product 3,613 4,154 4,082 4,347

Service 1,689 1,936 2,163 2,274

Total net sales 5,302 6,090 6,245 6,621

Cost of sales 3,181 4,054 3,928 3,574

Depreciation and amortization 73 72 64 58

Gross profit 2,048 1,964 2,253 2,989

Research and development expenses 844 689 584 638

Selling, general administrative and other expenses 2,704 2,828 2,549 2,558

Depreciation and amortization 670 744 689 669

Costs related to non-recurring acquisition activity — — — —

Non-recurring employee separation costs 101 317 — —

Operating loss $(2,271) $(2,614) $(1,569) $ (876)

Net loss $(1,025) $(1,337) $ (621) $ (159)

Basic earnings (loss) per share $ (0.10) $ (0.13) $ (0.06) $ (0.02)

Weighted average shares outstanding 10,391 10,396 10,481 10,515
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
The Company has been able to fund its opera-
tions and working capital requirements from cash
flow generated by operations, the proceeds from
a public offering completed in April 1995, the
proceeds from the sale of its derived channel
technology in November 1999, the proceeds from
capital leases, and the proceeds from the exercise
of stock options.

Net cash used in operating activit ies
decreased to $2,890,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2002, as compared to $3,237,000
for the year ended December 31, 2001. The
decrease in cash used was primarily due to a
reduction in minority interest to $326,000 in fiscal
2002 compared to $3,139,000 in fiscal 2001 and
changes in assets and liabilities which provided
cash of $2,374,000 in fiscal 2002 and compared
to $64,000 in fiscal 2001 offset by an increase in
net losses to $7,450,000 in fiscal 2002 compared
to a net loss of $3,142,000 in fiscal 2001.

Net cash used in investing activities decreased
to $1,149,000 for the year ended December 31,
2002, as compared to $2,214,000 for the year
ended December 31, 2001. The decrease in cash
used was primarily the result of reduced acquisi-
tion of minority interest.

Net cash provided by financing activities
increased to $757,000 for the year ended 
December 31, 2002, as compared to $314,000 for
the year ended December 31, 2001. The increase
in cash was primarily due to the receipt of
$1,177,000 in fiscal 2002 from the exercise of
stock options which resulted in the issuance of an
additional 255,529 shares of the Company’s Class A
Common Stock against the receipt of $362,000 in
fiscal 2001 from the exercise of stock options
which resulted in the issuance of an additional
104,601 shares of the Company’s Class A Common
Stock, respectively.

The Company had working capital balances,
including cash balances, of $4,951,000 and
$11,128,000, respectively, as of December 31,
2002 and December 31, 2001. Included in these
working capital balances were notes receivable
with certain customers of $823,000 and $94,000,
respectively, as of December 31, 2002 and
December 31, 2001. The Company had cash bal-
ances of $2,137,000 and $5,401,000, respectively,
as of December 31, 2002 and December 31, 2001.
In order to provide additional short-term liquidity
to the Company, on March 28, 2003, Alethea
Limited Partnership, an entity affiliated with the
family of the Company’s chairman and CEO,
agreed to provide to Digilog a one-year line of
credit for $1 million. Under its terms, the line is
secured by a pledge of the stock of Digilog and a
lien on all the assets of Digilog. Interest rate on
the line of credit is at a rate of ten percent (10%)
per annum. There are no restrictions on the use of
the line. The minimum amount of any draw under
the line is $100,000. The Company guarantees
the line of credit.

The Company’s business has traditionally not
been capital intensive and, accordingly, capital
expenditures have not been material. To date, the
Company has funded all capital expenditures
from working capital, capital lease and other long-
term obligations, proceeds from the public offer-
ing and the proceeds from the sale of its derived
channel technology in November 1999.

The Company is obligated under the First
Amendment to the Operating Agreement of
Cellemetry LLC (“Cellemetry”) to fund the opera-
tions of Cellemetry to an amount of $5,500,000 by
way of interest bearing debt financing to be avail-
able to fund the operations of Cellemetry and its
wholly owned subsidiary Uplink Security, Inc. The
Company has provided the full amount of the
facility to Cellemetry and the Company may, but is
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not obligated to continue to fund Cellemetry with
additional interest bearing debt financing. All bor-
rowings carry the Prime Rate of interest. At
December 31, 2002 the Company had provided
total interest bearing debt-financing amounting 
to $19,286,000.

On March 28, 2003, the Company acquired
Cingular’s interest in Cellemetry and the 625,000
shares of the Company’s stock owned by Cingular
for $5 million (the “Cellemetry Transaction”). Under
the terms of the agreement, the Company has
agreed to pay Cingular $1.5 million by Decem-
ber 15, 2003, $2.0 million by March 31, 2004, and
$1.5 million by December 15, 2004. The Company’s
obligation is secured by a pledge of the stock of
all the Company’s subsidiaries (except Digilog)
and lien on the assets of all the Company’s sub-
sidiaries (except Digilog) and bears interest at a
rate of eight percent (8%) per annum.

The Company intends to fund the Cellemetry
Transaction through a combination of operating
cash flows, cash on hand, and additional funding
sources. Such additional funding sources could
include the public or private sale of securities or
proceeds from the sale of assets. If the Company
is successful in raising additional funds through
the issuance of equity securities, stockholders
may experience dilution, or the equity securities
may have rights, preferences or privileges senior
to those of the common stockholders. If the
Company raises funds through the issuance of
debt securities, those securities would have the
rights, preferences, and privileges senior to those
of the common stockholders. There can be no
assurance, however, that additional funding will
be available on terms favorable to the Company
or at all or that the Company will raise significant
proceeds from the sale of assets.

The Company’s operations used significant
amounts of cash in 2002. The Company continues

to add products and distribution channels for its
products, but the Company’s longer-term success
will depend upon increased cash flow. The
Company believes that the combination of addi-
tional funding provided by establishment of the
March 28, 2003 $1 million line of credit, along with
cash generated from future operations, will be
sufficient to meet the Company’s operating require-
ments through at least December 31, 2003,
assuming no material adverse change in the oper-
ation of the Company’s business. The Company is
also considering other sources of funding, includ-
ing the sale of certain non-core assets.

Additionally, cash requirements for future
expansion of the Company’s operations will be
evaluated on an as-needed basis and may involve
additional external financing. The Company does
not expect that such additional financing, should it
occur, will have a materially negative impact on the
Company’s ability to fund its existing operations.

Effect of Inflation
Inflation has not been a material factor affecting
the Company’s business. In recent years the cost
of electronic components has remained relatively
stable, due to competitive pressures within the
industry, which has enabled the Company to con-
tain its manufacturing and operations costs. The
Company’s general operating expenses, such as
salaries, employee benefits, and facilities costs
are subject to normal inflationary pressures.

Foreign Currency
The Company’s functional and reporting currency
is the U.S. Dollar. Fluctuations in foreign currency
exchange rates are not expected to have a mate-
rial impact on the Company’s results of operations
or liquidity.
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To the Shareholders and Board of
Directors of Numerex Corp. and Subsidiaries

We have audited the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets of Numerex Corp. and subsidiaries
(the “Company”) as of December 31, 2002, and
2001 and the related consolidated statements of
operations, shareholders’ equity and cash flows
for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001,
and 2000. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America. Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audits to obtain rea-
sonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall financial statements 

presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial
statements referred to above, present fairly, in all
material respects, the consolidated financial posi-
tion of Numerex Corp. and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2002, and 2001 and the results of
their operations and their cash flows for the years
ended December 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000 in
conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed in Note A-20 to the consoli-
dated financial statements, the Company adopted
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
142, “Goodwill and Other Intangibles” (“SFAS”) on
January 1, 2002.

Atlanta, Georgia
February 20, 2003 (except for Note M, as to which
the date is March 28, 2003)

report of independent certified public accountants
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numerex corp. and subsidiaries
consolidated balance sheets

ASSETS
December 31,

(in thousands, except number of shares) 2002 2001

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents (Note A-3) $ 2,137 $ 5,401
Accounts receivable (net of allowances of 

$1,272 and $534, respectively (Note A-10) 4,459 7,676
Notes receivable, net (Note A-9 and A-10) 823 94
Inventory, net (Notes A-8 and E) 5,189 5,077
Prepaid taxes (Notes A-7 and G) — 48
Prepaid expenses and interest receivable 976 1,045

Total current assets 13,584 19,341

Property and equipment, net (Notes A-5 and F) 2,475 3,107
Goodwill, net (Notes A-4 and A-20) 10,983 10,983
Intangible assets, net (Notes A-4) 8,050 8,812
Software, net (Notes A-4) 1,963 410
Notes receivable, long term 48 204
Other assets 8 117

$37,111 $42,974

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.



31

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
December 31,

(in thousands, except number of shares) 2002 2001

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable $ 5,238 $ 6,652
Deferred revenues 819 658
Other accrued liabilities 1,866 758
Obligations under capital leases, current portion (Note I) 710 145

Total current liabilities 8,633 8,213

LONG-TERM DEBT
Obligations under capital leases 863 327

MINORITY INTEREST (Note C) — 326
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

(Notes H and I)

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Preferred stock—no par value; authorized

3,000,000 shares; issued 0 and 30,000 shares — 3,000
Class A common stock—no par value; authorized

30,000,000 shares; issued 13,168,889 and 12,286,419 shares 36,769 32,590
Class B common stock—no par value; authorized

5,000,000 shares; none issued — —
Additional paid-in capital 439 439
Treasury stock, at cost, 1,766,400 and 1,766,400 shares (9,222) (9,222)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (9) (27)
Retained earnings (deficit) (362) 7,328

Total shareholders’ equity 27,615 34,108

$37,111 $42,974

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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numerex corp. and subsidiaries
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income

For the years ended 
December 31,

(in thousands, except per share data) 2002 2001 2000

Net sales $24,501 $24,258 $20,290
Cost of sales 13,952 14,737 12,020
Depreciation and amortization 328 267 270

Gross profit 10,221 9,254 8,000

Research and development expenses 1,097 2,755 3,430
Selling, general, administrative and other expenses 12,509 10,710 10,983
Depreciation and amortization 2,184 2,701 2,593
Costs related to non-recurring acquisition activity (Note D) 1,899 — —
Non-recurring employee separation costs (Note D) — 418 —

Operating loss (7,468) (7,330) (9,006)

Interest and other income (expense), net (212) 934 1,900
Minority interest 326 3,139 3,146

Loss before income taxes (7,354) (3,257) (3,960)

Income expense (benefit) taxes (Notes A-7 and G) 96 (115) —

Net loss (7,450) (3,142) (3,960)

Preferred stock dividend 240 240 240

Loss applicable to common Shareholders $ (7,690) $ (3,382) $ (4,200)

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of income taxes
Foreign currency translation adjustment (Note A-15) 18 (7) —

Comprehensive loss $ (7,672) $ (3,389) $ (4,200)

Basic loss per share (Note A-19) $ (0.71) $ (0.32) $ (0.40)

Diluted loss per share $ (0.71) $ (0.32) $ (0.40)

Weighted average number of shares used in
per share calculation (Note A-19):

Basic 10,766 10,446 10,512

Diluted 10,766 10,446 10,512

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Accumulated
Additional Other Retained

Preferred Stock Common Stock Paid-In Treasury Comprehensive Earnings
(in thousands) Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Stock Loss (Deficit) Total

Balance, December 31, 1999 30 $ 3,000 11,609 $29,870 $370 $(5,222) $(20) $14,910 $42,908
Issuance of shares in connection with

exercise of stock options and warrants — — 548 2,194 — — — — 2,194
Purchase of treasury stock — — — — — (4,000) — — (4,000)
Net loss — — — — — — — (4,200) (4,200)

Balance, December 31, 2000 30 3,000 12,157 32,064 370 (9,222) (20) 10,710 36,902
Issuance of shares in connection with exercise of stock options — — 105 344 — — — — 344
Issuance of shares under Directors Stock Plan — — 1 9 — — — — 9
Issuance of shares in connection with 

Stock Exchange Agreement — — 23 173 — — — — 173
Option repricing — — — — 69 — — — 69
Translation adjustment — — — — — — (7) — (7)
Net Loss — — — — — — — (3,382) (3,382)

Balance, December 31, 2001 30 3,000 12,286 32,590 439 (9,222) (27) 7,328 34,108
Issuance of shares under Directors Stock Plan — — 3 12 — — — — 12
Issuance of shares in connection with
exercise of stock options and warrants — — 255 1,167 — — — — 1,167
Conversion of Preferred Stock to common shares (30) (3,000) 625 3,000 — — — — —
Translation adjustment — — — — — — 18 — 18
Net Loss — — — — — — — (7,690) (7,690)

Balance, December 31, 2002 — $ — 13,169 $36,769 $439 $(9,222) $ (9) $ (362) $27,615

The accompany notes are an integral part of this statement.
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numerex corp. and subsidiaries
consolidated statements of cash flows

For the years ended 
December 31,

(in thousands) 2002 2001 2000

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss $(7,450) $(3,142) $(3,960)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss 

used in operating activities:
Depreciation 1,312 1,454 1,374
Amortization 1,200 1,514 1,488
Compensation expense — 12 —
Minority interest (326) (3,139) (3,146)
Changes in assets and liabilities 

which provided (used) cash:
Accounts and notes receivable 2,692 (304) (912)
Inventory (112) (959) (499)
Prepaid expenses and interest receivable 69 (1,078) (191)
Other assets 61 (33) —
Accounts payable (1,412) 1,566 493
Income taxes 48 (10) (860)
Other accrued liabilities 1,028 882 (1,089)

Net cash used in operating activities (2,890) (3,237) (7,302)

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of property and equipment (107) (1,075) (1,325)
Purchase of intangible and other assets (1,042) (345) (245)
Acquisition of minority interest — (794) (58)

Net cash used in investing activities $(1,149) $(2,214) $(1,628)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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For the years ended 
December 31,

(in thousands) 2002 2001 2000

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from exercise of stock options $ 1,177 $ 362 $ 2,232
Principal payments on capital lease obligations (420) (48) (38)
Payment of preferred stock dividends — — (180)
Purchase of treasury stock — — (4,000)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 757 314 (1,986)

Effect of exchange differences on cash 18 (29) (7)

Net (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (3,264) (5,166) (10,923)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 5,401 10,567 21,490

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 2,137 $ 5,401 $ 10,567

Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information
Cash (receipts) payments for:

Interest $ 198 $ 524 $ 916
Income taxes $ 97 $ (115) $ 536

Disclosure of non-cash activities:
Capital leases $ 1,755 $ 350 $ 66

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.



NOTE A—SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
A summary of the significant accounting policies
consistently applied in the preparation of the
accompanying financial statements follows:

1. Nature of Business
Numerex Corp. (the “Company”) is a technology
company comprised of operating subsidiaries
that develop and market a wide range of commu-
nications products and services. The Company’s
primary focus is wireless data communications
utilizing proprietary network technologies. The
Company primarily offers products and services in
wireless data communications through Cellemetry�

and Data1Source�, and digital multimedia network-
ing through PowerPlay�. These services enable
customers around the globe to monitor and move
information for a variety of applications from home
and business security to distance learning. In addi-
tion, the Company offers wireline alarm security
products and services, as well as telecommunica-
tions network operational support systems.

2. Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the
results of operations and financial position of the
Company and its wholly owned or controlled sub-
sidiaries. Significant intercompany accounts and
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

3. Cash and Cash Equivalents
For purposes of financial reporting, the Company
considers all highly liquid investments purchased
with original maturities of less than three months
to be cash equivalents. As of December 31, 2002,
cash and cash equivalents include $669,000
restricted cash to support letters of credits. This
cash is held in the form of two time deposits, one

for $447,000 maturing in February 2003, when 
it will become accessible, and the other for
$222,000 maturing in November 2004, when it will
become accessible.

4. Intangible Assets
Intangible assets consist of developed software,
patents and acquired intellectual property, and
goodwill. These assets, except for goodwill, are
amortized over its expected useful life. Developed
software is amortized using the straight-line method
over 3 to 5 years. Patents and acquired intel-
lectual property is amortized using the straight-
line method over 7 to 16 years. In accordance
with the Statement of Financial Accounting Stand-
ards No. 142 (“SFAS 142”), there is no goodwill
amortization in 2002 (see Note A-20—Recent
Accounting Pronouncements). For the years
ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, goodwill
was amortized on the straight-line method over 12
to 20 years.

The Company capitalizes software develop-
ment costs when project technical feasibility is
established and concludes capitalization when
the product is ready for release. Software devel-
opment costs incurred prior to the establishments
of technical feasibility are expensed as incurred.

The Company adopted SFAS 142 on January 1,
2002. In connection with the adoption, the
Company reviewed the classification of its good-
will and other tangible assets, reassessed the
useful lives previously assigned to other intangi-
ble assets, and discontinued amortization of
goodwill, which will result in reduced expense of
approximately $768,000 on an annualized basis.
The Company also tested goodwill for impairment
by comparing the fair values of the Company’s
reporting units to their carrying values as of
January 1, 2001 and determined that there was
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no goodwill impairment at that time. The compo-
nents of intangible assets are as follows:

December 31,

(in thousands) 2002 2001

Goodwill $13,600 $13,600

Purchased and 

Developed software 2,768 854

Patents, trade and service marks 11,125 11,079

Intangible and other assets 284 283

Total intangible assets 27,777 25,816

Accumulated amortization (6,781) (5,611)

Intangible assets, net $20,996 $20,205

5. Property and Equipment
Depreciation is provided for in amounts sufficient
to relate the cost of depreciable assets to opera-
tions over their estimated service lives. Leased
property under capital leases is amortized over
the lives of the respective leases or over the serv-
ice lives of the assets for those leases, whichever
is shorter. Depreciation for property, equipment
and buildings is calculated using the straight-line
method over the following estimated lives.

• Short-term leasehold improvements 
over the term of the lease 3–10 years

• Plant and machinery 4–10 years
• Equipment, fixtures, and fittings 3–10 years

6. Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
The Company periodically evaluates the recover-
ability of its long-lived assets or when a specific
event indicates that the carrying value of a long-
lived asset may not be recoverable. Recovera-
bility is assessed based on estimates of future
cash flows expected to result from the use and
eventual disposition of the asset. If the sum of
expected undiscounted cash flows is less than

the carrying value of the asset, an impairment loss
is recognized for the amount of such deficiency,
using discounted cash methodologies. No such
impairment losses have been recognized during
the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001, and
2000, respectively.

7. Income Taxes
The Company accounts for income taxes using
the asset and liability method in accordance with
SFAS 109, Accounting for Income Taxes. Under
the asset and liability method, deferred income
taxes are recognized for the tax consequences of
“temporary differences” by applying enacted
statutory tax rates applicable to future years to
differences between the financial statement carry-
ing amounts and the tax bases of existing assets
and liabilities. A valuation allowance is provided
for deferred tax assets when it is more likely than
not that the assets will not be realized.

8. Inventory
Inventory and work-in progress are stated at the
lower of cost (first-in, first-out method) or market.

9. Notes Receivable
In 2002, the company converted $612,000 of
accounts receivable to notes receivable. These
notes are payable to the company in installments
for periods ranging from 9 to 18 months. In 2001,
the company had notes receivable of $298,000
payable over 24 months. For purposes of valua-
tion, notes receivable and accounts receivable
are considered in total in determining the allow-
ance for doubtful accounts.

10. Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful
accounts based upon the expected collectibility



of the accounts receivable and notes receivable.
When amounts are determined to be uncollect-
ible, they will be charged to operations when that
determination is made.

11. Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The Company’s financial instruments include
cash, accounts receivable, notes receivable and
accounts payable. The carrying value of the finan-
cial instruments approximates fair value due to
the relatively short period to maturity.

12. Use of Estimates
In preparing the Company’s financial statements,
management is required to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements, and the reported amounts of rev-
enues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

13. Concentration of Credit Risk
The Company maintains its cash balances in
financial institutions, which at times may exceed
federally insured limits. The Company has not
experienced any losses in such accounts and
believes it is not exposed to any significant credit
risk on cash and cash equivalents.

14. Revenue Recognition
The Company’s revenue is generated from three
sources:

• the supply of product, under non-recurring
agreements,

• the provision of services, under non-recurring
agreements, and,

• the provision of data transportation services,
under recurring or multi-year contractually based
agreements.

Revenue is recognized when persuasive evi-
dence of an agreement exists, the product or
service has been delivered, fees and prices are
fixed and determinable, collectibility is probable
and when all other significant obligations have
been fulfilled.

The Company recognizes revenue from prod-
uct sales at the time of shipment and passage of
title. The Company offers customers the right to
return products that do not function properly
within a limited time after delivery. The Company
continuously monitors and tracks such product
returns and records a provision for the estimated
amount of such future returns, based on historical
experience and any notification received of pend-
ing returns. While such returns have historically
been within expectations and the provisions
established, the Company cannot guarantee that
it will continue to experience the same return
rates that it has experienced in the past. Any sig-
nificant increase in product failure rates and the
resulting credit returns could have a material
adverse impact on operating results for the period
or periods in which such returns materialize.

The Company recognizes revenue from the
provision of services at the time of the completion,
delivery or performance of the service. In the
case of revenue derived from maintenance serv-
ices the Company recognizes revenue ratably
over the contract term. In certain instances the
Company may under an appropriate agreement
advance charge for the service to be provided. In
these instances the Company recognizes the
advance charge as deferred revenue (classified
as a liability) and releases the revenue ratably
over future periods in accordance with the con-
tract term as the service is completed, delivered
or performed.
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The Company also recognizes revenue from
the provision of “multiple element service agree-
ments,” which involve both the supply of product
and the provision of services over a multi-year
arrangement. Accounting principles for agree-
ments involving multiple elements require the
Company to allocate earned revenue to each ele-
ment based on the relative fair value of the ele-
ments. The arrangement fee for multiple-element
arrangements is allocated to each element, such
as design, product supply, product integration,
installation, maintenance, support and warranty
services, based on the relative fair values of the
elements. The Company determines the fair value
of each element in multi-element arrangements
based on vendor-specific objective evidence
(“VSOE”). VSOE for each element is based on the
price charged when the same element is sold
separately or could be purchased from an unre-
lated supplier. If evidence of fair value of all deliv-
ered elements exists but evidence does not exist
for one or more undelivered elements, then rev-
enue is recognized using the residual method.
Under the residual method, the fair value of the
undelivered element is deferred and is recognized
ratably over the contract term on an earned basis.
Regarding the supply of product the Company
maintains title to the product and transfers title at
the completion of the contract term.

The Company’s arrangements do not gener-
ally include acceptance clauses. However, 
arrangements involving multiple element service
agreements include certain milestones and levels
of certification, acceptance occurs upon the
Company’s certification of its completion of each
of the various elements.

The Company recognizes revenue from the
provision of its data transportation services when
the Company performs the services or processes

transactions in accordance with contractual per-
formance standards. Revenue is earned monthly
on the basis of the contracted monthly fee and an
excess message fee charge, should it apply, that
is volume based. In certain instances the Company
may under an appropriate agreement advance
charge for the data transport service to be pro-
vided. In these instances the Company recog-
nizes the advance charge (even if nonrefundable)
as deferred revenue (classified as a liability) and
releases the revenue over future periods in accor-
dance with the contract term as the data transport
service is delivered or performed.

15. Foreign Currency Transactions
Some transactions of the Company and its sub-
sidiaries are made in British pounds sterling,
Canadian dollars and Australian dollars. Gains
and losses from these transactions are included
in income as they occur.

16. Research and Development
Research and development expenses are
charged to operations in the period in which they
are incurred.

17. Provision for Warranty Claims
Estimated warranty expense is charged over 
the warranty period of the warranted products.
Warranty expenses have not been significant to
the Company.

18. Stock-Based Compensation
Effective November 1, 1996, the Company adopted
the provisions of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation. SFAS No. 123 encour-
ages, but does not require, companies to record
compensation cost for stock-based compensa-
tion plans at fair value. The Company has elected



to continue to account for stock-based compen-
sation in accordance with Accounting Principles
Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25, Accounting For
Stock Issued to Employees, and related interpre-
tations, as permitted by SFAS 123. Compensation
expense for stock options is measured as the
excess, if any, of the quoted market price of 
the Company’s stock at the date of the grant over
the amount an employee must pay to acquire the
stock (see Note K—Stock Option Plans).

Had compensation expense for the Company’s
aforementioned stock option plans been deter-
mined based on the fair value at the grant dates
for awards under those plans under the provisions
of SFAS No. 123, the Company’s net earnings (loss)
and earnings (loss) per share would have been
changed to the following pro forma amounts:

For the years ended

(in thousands December 31,

except per share data) 2002 2001 2000

Net loss—as reported $(7,672) $(3,382) $(4,200)

Net loss—pro forma $(8,858) $(4,503) $(5,096)

Loss per share—

as reported $ (0.71) $ (0.32) $ (0.40)

Loss per share—

pro forma $ (0.82) $ (0.43) $ (0.48)

The pro forma effect on net earnings (loss)
and earnings (loss) per share for the years ended
December 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000, respec-
tively, by applying SFAS No. 123, may not be
indicative of the pro forma effect on net earnings
(loss) in future years since SFAS No. 123 does 
not take into consideration pro forma compensa-
tion expense related to awards made prior to
November 1, 1995, and since additional awards
in future years are anticipated.

19. Earnings (Loss) Per Share
In February 1997, the Financial Accounting Stand-
ards Board issued SFAS No. 128, Earnings Per
Share, and SFAS No. 128, which supersedes APB
No. 15, Earnings Per Share, requires a dual pres-
entation of basic and diluted earnings per share
as well as other disclosures. Basic earnings per
share excludes the dilutive impact of common
stock equivalents and is computed by dividing
net earnings (loss) by the weighted average num-
ber of shares of common stock outstanding for
the period.

Diluted earnings (loss) per share includes the
effect of potential dilution from the exercise of out-
standing common stock equivalents into common
stock, using the treasury stock method at the
average market price of the Company’s common
stock for the period.

For the years ended December 31, 2002,
2001, and 2000, the Company’s potential common
shares have an anti-dilutive effect on earnings
(loss) per share and, therefore, have not been
used in determining the total weighted average
number of common shares outstanding. Potential
common shares resulting from options and warrants
that would be used to determine diluted earnings
(loss) per share were 1,059,000, 1,985,000, and
1,739,000 for the years ended December 31,
2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively.

20. Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In July 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards
Board issued Statements of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 141, Business Combinations
(SFAS No. 141) and No. 142, Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets (SFAS No. 142). SFAS No. 141
changed the accounting for business combina-
tions, requiring that all business combinations be
accounted for using the purchase method and
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that intangible assets be recognized as assets
apart from goodwill if they arise from contractual
or other legal rights, or if they are separable or
capable of being separated from the acquired
entity and sold, transferred, licensed, rented or
exchanged. SFAS No. 141 is effective for all busi-
ness combinations initiated after June 30, 2001.
SFAS No. 142 specifies the financial accounting
and reporting for acquired goodwill and other
intangible assets. Goodwill and indefinite life
intangible assets will not be amortized but rather
will be tested at least annually for impairment.
SFAS No. 142 is effective for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2001. The Company adopted
SFAS 142 effective January 1, 2002. Pro forma
results for the year ended December 31, 2001
and December 31, 2000 assuming the discontinu-
ation of amortization of Goodwill, is shown below:

For the years ended

(in thousands December 31,

except per share data) 2001 2000

Net loss—as reported $(3,382) $(4,200)

Goodwill amortization 713 673

Net loss—pro forma $(2,669) $(3,287)

Loss per share—as reported $ (0.32) $ (0.40)

Loss per share—pro forma $ (0.26) $ (0.31)

In April 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 145.
This Statement rescinds FASB Statement No. 4,
Reporting Gains and Losses from Extinguishment of
Debt, and an amendment of that Statement, FASB
Statement No. 64, Extinguishments of Debt Made
to Satisfy Sinking-Fund Requirements. This State-
ment amends FASB Statement No. 13, Accounting
for Leases, to eliminate an inconsistency between
the required accounting for sale-leaseback trans-
actions and the required accounting for certain

lease modifications that have economic effects
that are similar to sale-leaseback transactions.
This Statement also amends other existing author-
itative pronouncements to make various technical
corrections, clarify meanings, or describe their
applicability under changed conditions. The
Company does not believe SFAS 145 will have a
material effect on its financial statements.

In September 2002, the FASB issued SFAS
No. 146, Accounting for Costs Associated with
Exit or Disposal. SFAS No. 146 eliminates the def-
inition and requirements for recognition of exit
costs in EITF Issue No. 94-3. SFAS No. 146
requires that a liability for a cost associated with
an exit or disposal activity be recognized and
measured initially at fair value only when the liabil-
ity is incurred. SFAS No. 146 is effective for exit 
or disposal activities that are initiated after
December 31, 2002. The Company does not
believe SFAS 146 will have a material effect on its
financial statements.

On December 31, 2002, the Financial Account-
ing Standards Board (FASB) issued FAS No. 148,
Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—
Transition and Disclosure This Statement amends
FASB Statement No. 123, Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation, to provide alternative
methods of transition for companies that voluntary
change to the fair-value-based method of
accounting for stock-based employee compensa-
tion. In addition, this Statement amends the dis-
closure requirements of Statement 123 to require
prominent disclosures in both annual and interim
financial statements about the method of account-
ing for stock-based employee compensation and
the effect of the method used on reported results.
The Company does not believe FAS 148 will have
a material effect on its financial statements.



21. Reclassification
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified
to conform to the current period presentation.

NOTE B—LIQUIDITY 
As disclosed in the financial statements, the
Company’s operations used significant amounts
of cash in 2002. The Company continues to add
products and distribution channels for its prod-
ucts, but the Company’s longer-term success will
depend upon increased cash flow. The Company
believes that the combination of additional fund-
ing provided by a certain shareholder via a line of
credit (see Note M—Subsequent Events) and
cash generated from future operations will be suf-
ficient to meet the Company’s operating require-
ments through at least December 31, 2003,
assuming no material adverse change in the oper-
ation of the Company’s business. The Company is
also considering other sources of funding, includ-
ing the sale of certain non-core assets and/or the
issuance of equity or debt securities, including,
without limitation, a rights offering.

NOTE C—INVESTMENTS

Broadband Networks, Inc.
On February 28, 1997, the Company acquired
100% of the outstanding common stock of 
Broadband Networks, Inc. (“Broadband”). Certain
employees of Broadband continued to hold
incentive stock options, which upon exercise
would have entitled them to own approximately
18% of Broadband’s outstanding common shares.
These shares became exercisable in 2001. On
July 6, 2001, the Company completed: (i) the
acquisition of all of the shares held by the minority
shareholders of Broadband relative to the exer-
cise of these stock options and (ii) the exchange
of all outstanding options held by employees of

Broadband to acquire shares in Broadband for
options to acquire shares in the Company. In con-
nection with the acquisition of all of the shares
held by the minority shareholders in Broadband
the Company issued 23,050 shares of restricted
Class A Common Stock of the Company.

Cellemetry
On May 15, 1998, the Company, Bellsouth Wire-
less LLC (“BellSouth Wireless”), formerly BellSouth
Wireless, Inc., and Bellsouth Corporation com-
pleted a transaction whereby Cellemetry LLC
(“Cellemetry”) a joint venture between the Company
and BellSouth Wireless, was formed. Cellemetry,
a Delaware limited liability company, is owned
60% by the Company and 40% by BellSouth
Wireless. The parties entered into an operating
agreement (the “Operating Agreement”), which
deals with, among other things, the conduct of the
business of Cellemetry.

The Company’s subsidiary recorded the
assets contributed to Cellemetry by BellSouth
Wireless at fair value on the date of contribution.
The fair value of the patents contributed was
$10,603,000, which is being amortized over their
remaining life of 16 years. In addition, BellSouth
Wireless contributed property and equipment val-
ued at $285,000. The results of operations and
financial position of Cellemetry were consolidated
with the Company effective May 15, 1998, since the
Company controls the operations of Cellemetry.

On November 18, 1999, effective as of
November 1, 1999, the Company and BellSouth
Wireless completed the restructuring of the
Cellemetry Operating Agreement.

Under the terms of the restructuring, the
operating agreement of Cellemetry has been
modified (“First Amendment to the Operating
Agreement”) and the Cellemetry Business Plan
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has been modified, revised and extended through
November 1, 2004, (“Modified Business Plan”). All
respective rights under the Operating Agreement
that triggered on May 15, 2001, three years from
the date of the formation of Cellemetry, have been
revised to trigger on November 1, 2002, and all
financial performance tests have been amended
to reflect the Modified Business Plan. In addition,
the price at which the Company may, at its sole
option, elect that BellSouth Wireless put its owner-
ship interest in Cellemetry to the Company has
been revised and set at $17,000,000. Additionally,
the agreement provided for the cancellation of the
Cellemetry Share Option Plan with the intent that
the Company exchanges all outstanding options
for options to acquire shares of the capital stock
of the Company.

The restructuring also provided for Cellemetry
to seek to find either a foreign carrier or strategic
investor (“Third Party Investment”) to invest new
capital in exchange for up to 15% of Cellemetry.
In connection with any such Third Party Investment,
the Company’s ownership interest in Cellemetry
will not be diluted below 51% and BellSouth
Wireless’s will not be diluted below 34%.

Pursuant to the First Amendment to the
Operating Agreement, the Company, from and
including May 15, 1999, is no longer under an
obligation to make any additional capital contribu-
tions to Cellemetry. The Company committed to
provide up to $5,500,000 in interest bearing debt
financing to Cellemetry. As of December 31, 2002,
the Company has provided total interest bearing
debt-financing amounting to $19,286,000.

Also, pursuant to the First Amendment to the
Operating Agreement, the Company conveyed
100% of the capital stock of its wholly owned sub-
sidiary Uplink to Cellemetry. In addition, the

Company issued to BellSouth Wireless 30,000
Series A Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock
of the Company (“Preferred Stock”) at 8% yield.
The preferred stock was redeemable, at the
Company’s option, commencing November 1, 2000,
on the basis of a pre-set annual redemption price
per share. Also, the Preferred Stock, at BellSouth
Wireless’s option, commencing November 1, 2003,
or November 1, 2002, should the Company’s
common stock exceed a pre-set market price for
a given period of time, is convertible into 625,000
shares of common stock of the Company, approx-
imately 6% of the Company’s common stock. The
Preferred Stock carries certain registration rights
for the common stock upon such conversion. At
December 31, 2002, the company had a dividend
payable to BellSouth Wireless of $540,000 on the
preferred stock.

On December 2, 2002, BellSouth Wireless
exercised its option to convert the 30,000 Series
A Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock to
625,000 shares of the Companies common stock.
This was approximately 5.5% of the Company’s
common stock outstanding at December 31, 2002.

On March 28, 2003, the Company acquired
Cingular’s interest in Cellemetry and the 625,000
shares of the Company’s stock owned by Cingular
for $5 million (see Note M—Subsequent Events).

NOTE D—COSTS RELATED TO 
NON-RECURRING ACQUISITION ACTIVITY
AND EMPLOYEE SEPARATION COSTS
For year ended December 31, 2002, the Company
expensed $1,899,000 of costs relating to a poten-
tial business acquisition. These costs were prima-
rily legal and accounting services incurred during
due diligence. During the three-month period
ended June 30, 2002, management determined



that consummation of the business acquisition
was unlikely; as a result, the costs previously
capitalized up to June 30, 2002 were expensed.
Of these costs, $172,000 was deferred in the 
year ended December 31, 2001. The balance 
of $1,727,000 was incurred in the year ended
December 31, 2002.

During the year ended December 31, 2001,
the Company recorded a pre tax charge of
$418,000 to cover employee separation costs.

NOTE E—INVENTORY
Inventory consisted of the following:

December 31,

(in thousands) 2002 2001

Raw materials $ 1,346 $ 2,404

Work-in-progress 20 186

Finished goods 3,823 2,487

Inventory, net $ 5,189 $ 5,077

NOTE F—PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment consisted of the following:

December 31,

(in thousands) 2002 2001

Leasehold improvements $ 461 $ 415

Plant and machinery 7,183 6,691

Equipment, fixtures and fittings 930 790

Total property and equipment 8,574 7,896

Accumulated depreciation (6,099) (4,789)

Property and equipment, net $ 2,475 $ 3,107

NOTE G—INCOME TAXES
For the periods noted below, the provisions for
income taxes consists of the following:

For the years ended

December 31,

(in thousands) 2002 2001 2000

Current:

Federal $— $(115) $ —

State — — —

Foreign 96 — —

Deferred:

Federal — — —

Foreign — — —

$96 $(115) $ —

Income taxes recorded by the Company differ
from the amounts computed by applying the
statutory U.S. federal income tax rate to income
before income taxes. The following schedule rec-
onciles income tax expense (benefit) at the statu-
tory rate and the actual income tax expense as
reflected in the consolidated statements of opera-
tions for the respective periods:

December 31,

(in thousands) 2002 2001 2000

Income tax (benefit) 

computed at U.S. 

corporate tax rate 

of 34% $(2,500) $(1,107) $(1,346)

Foreign tax 96 — —

Adjustments 

attributable to

Valuation allowance 2,500 1,107 1,346

State tax benefit — — —

Recovery of 

previously paid tax — (115) —

$ 96 $ (115) $ —

46

numerex corp. and subsidiaries
notes to consolidated financial statements (continued)

Years ended December 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000



47

The components of the Company’s net
deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

December 31,

(in thousands) 2002 2001 2000

Non-current deferred 

tax liability:

Differences between 

book and tax basis 

of property 

and equipment $ (124) $ (124) $ (88)

(124) (124) (88)

Current deferred 

tax asset:

Inventories 315 368 414

Accruals 54 53 28

Other 630 259 282

999 680 724

Non-current deferred 

tax asset:

Intangibles 693 441 292

Net operating loss 

carry forward 8,871 5,806 3,932

Tax credit carry 

forwards 1,892 1,755 4,123

11,456 8,002 8,347

Net deferred tax asset 12,331 8,558 8,983

Valuation allowance (12,331) (8,558) (8,983)

Total $ — $ — $ —

Net operating loss carry forwards for federal
and state income taxes available at December 31,
2002, expire as follows:

Amount Years of Expiration

Federal operating losses $15,542 2022

State operating losses $44,837 2007–2022

NOTE H—SIGNIFICANT CUSTOMER, 
CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK AND
RELATED PARTIES
During the year ended December 31, 2002 there
were two customers each comprising 10% or
more of the Company’s total revenues. Customer
A comprised 12% and Customer B comprised
10% of the Company’s total revenues for the year
ended December 31, 2002. Company A had an
accounts receivable balance of $472,000 at
December 31, 2002. Company B had no accounts
receivable balance as of December 31, 2002.
There were no such concentrations for the years
ended December 31, 2001, and 2000.

The company had one supplier from which
the Company’s purchases were approximately
28% of cost of sales for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2002. While most of the components
included in the products purchased from this sup-
plier can be sourced from other suppliers, one
key component is currently obtained solely from
this source. The Company is exploring alternative
sources for this component.

The company conducted business with two
related parties during the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2002. BellSouth Wireless owned 40% of
Cellemetry LLC and 5.5% (see Note C—Invest-
ments) of Numerex Corp at December 31, 2002.
BellSouth Wireless provided $97,000 in communi-
cation services to company for the year ended
December 31, 2002 and the company had an
accounts payable balance with BellSouth Wireless
of $34,000 at December 31, 2002. Mr. Ryan, a
director on Numerex Corp’s board is also partner
in the law firm of Salisbury & Ryan LLP. Salisbury
& Ryan LLP provided legal services to the
Company in fiscal 2002 and will continue to
provide such services during fiscal 2003. During
fiscal 2002, Salisbury & Ryan LLP charged the



Company legal fees of approximately $488,748.
The Company’s accounts payable to Salisbury &
Ryan LLP was $208,000 at December 31, 2002.

NOTE I—COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Capital Leases
The Company conducts a portion of its operations
with leased equipment. For financial reporting
purposes, minimum lease rentals relating to the
equipment have been capitalized.

The related assets and obligations have been
recorded using the Company’s incremental bor-
rowing rate at the inception of the lease. The
leases expire at various dates through 2005. The
following is a schedule by years of future minimum
lease payments under capital leases together with
the present value of the net minimum lease pay-
ments as of December 31, 2002, (in thousands).

2003 $ 860

2004 841

2005 32

Total minimum lease payments 1,733

Less amount representing interest (160)

Present value of net minimum 

lease payments $1,573

Current portion 744

Non-current portion 829

Total $1,573

Operating Leases
The Company leases certain property and equip-
ment under noncancelable operating leases with
initial terms in excess of one year. Future minimum
lease payments under such noncancelable oper-
ating leases subsequent to December 31, 2002,
(in thousands) are as follows:

2003 $ 688

2004 503

2005 515

2006 522

2007 534

Thereafter 547

Total minimum lease payments $3,309

Rent expense, including short-term leases,
amounted to approximately $689,111, $794,000,
and $759,000 in the years ended December 31,
2002, 2001, and 2000 respectively.

NOTE J—BENEFIT PLANS
The Company sponsors a 401k savings and
investment plan, a plan which covers all Numerex
Corp and its subsidiaries for employees who elect
to participate. Employees are eligible for partici-
pation on the enrollment date following six months
of service. The Company contributed an amount
equal to 50% of the portion of the employee’s
elective deferral contribution that do not exceed
6% of the employee’s total compensation for each
payroll period in which an elective deferral is
made. The Company’s contribution is made in
cash on a monthly basis. Matching contributions
of the Company are vested over a three year
period at a rate of 33% per year. Approximately
$142,716, $121,754, and $101,474 were expensed
for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001,
and 2000.
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NOTE K—STOCK OPTION PLANS
The Company has a Long-Term Incentive Plan
(the “1999 Plan”), which provides for the granting
of incentive stock options and nonqualified stock
options to employees, officers, directors and con-
sultants of the Company and its subsidiaries at
prices, which represent the closing market price
at the grant dates. The aggregate number of
shares, which may be issued upon the exercise of
options under the 1999 Plan, is 1,500,000 shares
of Class A Common Stock. The 1999 Plan replaced
the Amended and Restated 1994 Employee Stock
Option Plan (the “1994 Plan”) effective for options
granted as and from October 25, 1999.

Options issued under the 1999 Plan typically
vest ratably over a four-year period.

Options issued under the 1994 Plan typically
vest over a five-year period. Certain options issued
under the 1994 Plan have cliff-vesting terms at the
end of a five-year period and terms which provide
for the acceleration of vesting upon the attainment
of specified market prices for the Company’s
common stock for a period of 60 days.

In the event of a “change in control” as defined
in the 1999 and 1994 Plans, respectively, all out-
standing options become fully vested and are
subject to exercise.

Incentive stock options and nonqualified
stock options granted under the 1999 and 1994
Plans, respectively, expire 10 years after the grant
date unless an option holder’s employment is ter-
minated. Under such circumstances, the options
typically expire three months from the date of
employment termination.

At December 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000,
1,741,701, 1,587,201, and 1,200,500, respectively,
ratably vesting common share options under the
1999 and 1994 Plans, respectively, have been
granted at prices ranging between $1.00 and

$10.25. Of these options 381,630 have been exer-
cised, 661,648 have either expired or been
cancelled, 253,723 are currently exercisable, and
the remaining options will become exercisable in
2003 through 2006.

At December 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000,
685,000, 685,000, and 685,000 respectively, cliff-
vesting options under the 1994 Plan have been
granted at prices ranging between $4.44 and
$7.13. Of these options 360,000 have been exer-
cised, 210,000 have either expired and been can-
celled or been cancelled, 67,375 are currently
exercisable and the remaining options will
become exercisable beginning in 2002 or earlier if
the accelerated vesting conditions are met.

The Company has a Non-Employee Director
Stock Option Plan (the “Director Plan”), which pro-
vides for the granting of stock options to non-
employee members of the Company’s Board of
Directors at the closing market price at the grant
dates. On April 1, 1996, and each anniversary
date thereafter, each non-employee director, who
has served as a director for at least one year, will
receive an option to purchase 2,500 shares of 
the Company’s common stock. On December 5,
1997, the Director Plan was amended, and on
February 26, 1998, shareholders approved an
increase to 4,000 the annual number of shares
that each director would receive. The aggregate
number of shares, which may be issued upon the
exercise of options granted under the Director
Plan, is 62,500 shares of common stock. Options
issued under the Director Plan fully vest one year
after the grant date.

In the event of a “change in control” as defined
in the Director Plan, all outstanding options
become fully vested and are subject to exercise.
Options granted under the Director Plan expire 10
years after the grant date, unless an option holder



ceases to be a director of the Company. Under
such circumstances, the options expire three
months from the date that the option holder
ceases to be a director.

At December 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000,
60,700, 60,700, and 52,700, respectively, options
under the Director Plan have been granted to
directors of the Company at prices ranging
between $3.38 and $12.94. Of these options
9,000 have been exercised, 47,700 are currently
exercisable and the remaining options will
become exercisable in 2003.

At December 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000,
options to purchase 193,750, 193,750, and
143,750, respectively, of Class A Common Stock
at prices ranging from $3.50 to $10.00 were
granted as nonqualified stock options in connec-
tion with services rendered to the Company. Of
these options 156,250 are currently exercisable

and the remaining options will become exercis-
able in 2003 through 2005.

The fair value of each option on the date of
grant for 2002, 2001, and 2000 was estimated
using the Black-Scholes options-pricing model
with the following weighted average assumptions:
no dividend yield for all years; expected volatility
of 143% for 2002, 121% for 2001, and 130% for
2000; risk-free interest rate of 3.35% for 2002,
4.86% for 2001, and 5.28% for 2000; and expected
option lives of 7.3 years for 2002, 7.5 years for
2001, and 7 years for 2000.

The exercise price for 525,048 options out-
standing at December 31, 2002, is between $1.00
and $12.94. Such options will expire on average
in 7.3 years. The weighted average fair value of
options granted during 2002, 2001, and 2000 was
$5.71, $5.76, and $12.70, respectively, on the
date of grant.
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The following table summarizes the activity of the stock option plans as of and for the years ended
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000.

For the years ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average Average Average

Exercise Exercise Exercise

Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price

Outstanding, beginning of year 1,253,455 $5.91 1,007,384 $5.66 1,364,450 $ 4.48

Options granted 154,500 6.00 444,701 6.27 124,500 13.47

Options exercised (254,832) 4.56 (104,601) 3.30 (379,197) 4.34

Options cancelled (94,250) 6.87 (94,029) 7.78 (102,369) 4.32

Outstanding, end of year 1,058,873 $6.18 1,253,455 $5.91 1,007,384 $ 5.66

Exercisable, end of year 525,048 $5.80 489,130 $4.86 342,872 $ 4.32
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As part of the restructuring of the Cellemetry
Operation Agreement between the Company and
BellSouth Wireless the agreement provided for the
cancellation of the Cellemetry Share Option Plan
with the intent that the Company exchange all out-
standing options for options to acquire shares of
the capital stock of the Company. Effective
November 1, 1999, all options granted under the
Cellemetry Share Option Plan were cancelled and
exchanged for options under the Company’s 1999
Plan. (See Note C—Investments).

NOTE L—GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION
The Company operates in a single industry seg-
ment. Information about the Company’s operations
in different geographic areas for the years ended
December 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000 respectively,
are as follows: 

(in thousands) U.S. Australia Consolidated

Net sales:

2002 $24,213 $ 288 $24,501

2001 23,907 351 24,258

2000 18,795 1,495 20,290

Operating (loss):

2002 $ (7,553) $ 85 $ (7,468)

2001 (7,353) 23 (7,330)

2000 (9,040) 34 (9,006)

Identifiable assets:

2002 $37,057 $ 54 $37,003

2001 42,613 361 42,974

2000 45,702 240 45,942

NOTE M—SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
In order to provide additional short-term liquidity
to the Company, on March 28, 2003, Alethea
Limited Partnership, an entity affiliated with the
family of the Company’s chairman and CEO,
agreed to provide to Digilog a one-year line of
credit for $1 million. Under its terms, the line is
secured by a pledge of the stock of Digilog and a
lien on all the assets of Digilog. Interest rate on
the line of credit is at a rate of ten percent (10%)
per annum. There are no restrictions on the use 
of the line. The minimum amount of any draw
under the line is $100,000. The Company guaran-
tees the line of credit.

On March 28, 2003, the Company acquired
Cingular’s interest in Cellemetry and the 625,000
shares of the Company’s stock owned by Cingular
for $5 million (the “Cellemetry Transaction”). Under
the terms of the agreement, the Company has
agreed to pay Cingular $1.5 million by Decem-
ber 15, 2003, $2.0 million by March 31, 2004 and
$1.5 million by December 15, 2004. The Company’s
obligation is secured by a pledge of the stock of
all the Company’s subsidiaries (except Digilog)
and lien on the assets of all the Company’s sub-
sidiaries (except Digilog) and bears interest at a
rate of eight percent (8%) per annum.
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